1 2 3 4 5 6	Anat Levy, Esq. (State Bar No. 12550) ANAT LEVY & ASSOCIATES, P.C. 5841 E. Charleston Blvd., #230-421 Las Vegas, NV 89142 Phone: (310) 621-1199 E-mail: alevy96@aol.com; Fax: (310) 734 Attorney for: APPELLANTS, Veterans In and Steve Sanson	Electronically Filed Aug 21 2017 04:35 p. Elizabeth A. Brown Politics International Clark of Supreme Cou
$\begin{bmatrix} 7 \\ 8 \end{bmatrix}$	IN THE SUPREME CO	DURT OF NEVADA
9	IN THE SOI REVIE CO	JUNI OF NEVADA
10	VETERANS IN POLITICS	) SUP. CT. CASE #: 72778
11	INTERNATIONAL, INC.; AND STEVE	)
12	W. SANSON	) DIST. CT. CASE #: ) A-17-750171-C (Dept. 18)
13	Appellants,	)
14	N/O	)
15	VS.	)
16	MARSHAL S. WILLICK; AND	)
17	WILLICK LAW GROUP,

# STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has appellate jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statutes, specifically, NRS 41.670 (4) which states as follows: "If the court denies the special motion to dismiss filed pursuant to NRS 41.660, an interlocutory appeal lies to the Supreme Court."

On January 27, 2017 Respondents sued Appellants for defamation and other claims arising from five internet posts pertaining to Respondents' work as attorneys.<sup>1</sup> On February 17, 2017, Appellant moved to dismiss the complaint pursuant to Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statutes, NRS 41.650 et seq..<sup>2</sup> On March 14, 2017, the district court denied Appellants' Anti-SLAPP motion.<sup>3</sup>

On March 31, 2017, Appellants received notice of entry of the court's order denying their anti-SLAPP motion.<sup>4</sup>

On April 3, 2017, Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal.<sup>5</sup> Such notice was timely under NRAP, Rule 4(a)(1) because it was filed within 30 days of service of the Notice of Entry of Order.

<sup>1</sup> Appellants' Appendix ("AA") I:1-28: Complaint

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> AA I-V:53-946: Anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss, and supporting declarations of Sanson and Levy with exhibits

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> AA VII:1602-1603: Minute Order on anti-SLAPP motion

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> AA VIII:1682-1691: Notice of Entry of Order denying anti-SLAPP motion

### **ROUTING STATEMENT PURSUANT TO NRAP 28(A)(5)**

This appeal should be presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to the following:

- 1. NRS 41.670(4) which states: "If the court denies the special motion to dismiss filed pursuant to NRS 41.660, an interlocutory appeal lies to the Supreme Court."
- 2. NRAP 17(10), because it involves federal and state constitutional free speech rights and issues of first impression in Nevada: (a) whether and how hyperlinks to source materials, prompt written clarifications or corrections, and opinions affect a determination of a defendant's "good faith" under Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute NRS 41.660(a); and b) whether an attorney's law related practices are matters of "public interest/concern" under such anti-SLAPP statutes.
- 3. NRAP 17(11), because the case involves issues of statewide public importance as it deals with the extent to which free speech rights are protected under Nevada's anti-SLAPP statutes.

<sup>5</sup> *Id*.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

This appeal involves a *de novo* review of the following issues:

- 1. Whether the VIPI Defendants sufficiently established that they engaged in "good faith" communications as required by Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statute, NRS 41.660(3)(a), where:
  - a. The statements at issue constitute Appellant's non-actionable opinion, or were true statements of fact as shown by the evidence presented, or if false, were made without knowledge of their falsity;
  - b. The Appellant hyperlinked each statement to the relevant source materials for readers to independently evaluate; and
  - c. The appellant promptly and publicly clarified the single statement that could be conceived as a false statement of fact.
- 2. Whether written online statements are of "public concern / public interest" under Nevada's anti-SLAPP statutes, NRS 41.660(3)(a) and NRS 41.637(4), where they pertain to work and court practices of a Nevada attorney who: (1) is an officer of the Court, (2) is admitted and regulated by the State Bar of Nevada which is governed by publicly elected Justices and which very purpose is to protect the public interest, and (3) represents clients in courtrooms that serve the public and are open to the public as a matter of qualified constitutional right.

- 3. Whether Respondents are "public figures" or "limited public figures" when they purposely inject themselves into public discourse, including by testifying before the legislature, writing books and dozens of articles for public dissemination, appearing on television and other mass media to promote themselves and their viewpoints, and serving as an expert witness in numerous cases.
- 4. Whether Respondents have demonstrated with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on each of their remaining claims under NRS 41.660(3)(b): defamation, false light invasion of privacy, business disparagement and conspiracy.

# 

# I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal under NRS 41.670 from the district court's denial of Appellant's anti-SLAPP (Strategic Lawsuit Against Public Participation) motion. Nevada's anti-SLAPP statutes provide for early dismissal of meritless first amendment cases aimed at chilling expression through costly, time-consuming litigation. *Panicaro v. Crowley*, NV Ct of Appeals No. 67840 (Nev. App., Jan. 5, 2017). *Vess v. Ciba-Geigy Corp.*, 317 F.3d 1097, 1109 (9th Cir., 2003). This case falls squarely within the anti-SLAPP statutes.

Appellants Veterans in Politics International, Inc. ("VIPI") and its President, Steve Sanson ("Sanson"), are being sued for publicly criticizing a Nevada family law lawyer and his law firm about their courtroom and legal practices.

VIPI is a media outlet, a veterans' non-profit advocacy group, and serves as a government "watchdog." VIPI publishes blog articles, makes internet postings on its website and through social media outlets, has a weekly internet show, and sends E-mail "blasts" to its followers with its latest news and information. Its President, Sanson, does all this for free. Sanson is 100% combat-related disabled after serving twelve years in our nation's military: six years in combat as a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> AA I:83: Sanson Decl., ¶ 2; AA VII:1500: Sanson Supp. Decl., ¶¶ 2-3.  $^7$  *Id*.

1
 2
 3

 $\begin{bmatrix} 28 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 10 & A \\ 11 & I \end{bmatrix}$ 

decorated Marine in Desert Storm and Desert Shield, and six years as an Army reservist and military chaplain.<sup>8</sup>

Respondents are Nevada family law lawyer Marshal Willick ("Willick") and his law firm, the Willick Law Group. Willick touts his firm as "the premiere Family Law firm in Nevada." He voluntarily thrusts himself into public debate by testifying before the Nevada legislature, writing books and articles for public consumption, being extensively quoted in newspapers and other publications, and actively marketing his firm to the public including through billboards.<sup>9</sup>

### B. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On January 27, 2017, Willick filed this case asserting causes of action for defamation, false light invasion of privacy, business disparagement, negligent and intentional infliction of emotional distress, harassment, RICO, concert of action, conspiracy, copyright infringement and injunctive relief.<sup>10</sup> The case is based on five statements that, Sanson, in his capacity as VIPI's President, posted online from December 25, 2016 to January 14, 2017 criticizing Willick and his firm's professional conduct.<sup>11</sup>

 $<sup>|^{8}</sup>$  AA VII:1500: Sanson Supp. Decl., ¶ 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> AA III:468: Willick's resume; AA V:1089, AA V:1108-1110: Minutes of Assembly meeting; AA V:1067: Willick's letter to Assembly; AA VI:1271: screenshot of Willick's books; AA VI:1273-1285: sample articles quoting Willick; AA VI:1287: Billboard

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> AA I:1-28: Complaint

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> *Id*.

Notably, this is not the first time that Willick has sued a veterans group for criticizing him. He did the same thing, asserting the same claims, in 2012 when a veterans group criticized him for advocating the use of veterans' disability benefits to pay for spousal support. This time, however, not only did Willick file suit to stifle his critics — he also had his fiancée, fellow family law lawyer Jennifer Abrams ("Abrams"), do the same. Willick and Abrams have each filed separate complaints against VIPI and Sanson, alleging the same causes of action, though each relating to the particular criticisms that VIPI made of them. <sup>13</sup>

To maximize the financial pain to VIPI and Sanson, both Willick and Abrams also sued Sanson's wife (a family therapist) and her separate corporation (through which she operates her therapy business), as well as a host of others who are on VIPI's charter or who had dealings with VIPI. Willick and Abrams have also each dragged VIPI and Sanson into unrelated divorce cases. In one case, Abrams tried unsuccessfully to have Sanson *incarcerated* for posting a video court transcript showing Abrams bullying the Judge. In the other, Willick is subpoenaing highly confidential financial, phone and other records pertaining to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> AA II:355-377: *Willick v. Jere Beery, et. al.*, Eighth Judicial District Court, case no. A-12-661766-C, Second Amended Complaint

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> AA V:1000-1040: *Abrams v. Schneider*, Eighth Judicial District Court, case no. A-17-749318-C, Amended Complaint; AA1-28: Complaint in the instant action. <sup>14</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> AA I:31-52: *Saiter v. Saiter*, Eighth Judicial District Court, case no. D-15-521372-D, Motion for an Order to Show Cause; *see also*, AA1787-1809: *Saiter*,

VIPI and Sanson, including tax returns, contributions, expenses, member identification, and cell phone data (including pictures, texts, messages, documents, metadata, etc.). Willick and Abrams have also taken other steps, discussed in Section IIIA3 below, to intimidate and financially damage Appellants into silence.

On February 17, 2017 Appellants timely moved to dismiss the case under Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statutes. NRS 41.650 et. seq. 17

On February 24, 2017, Appellants also filed a NRCP 12(b)(1) motion to dismiss Respondents' copyright infringement claim for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, <sup>18</sup> a NRCP 12(b)(5) motion to dismiss Respondents' remaining claims for failure to state a claim, <sup>19</sup> and a NRCP 12(f) motion to strike portions of the complaint. <sup>20</sup> Those motions have not been heard in the district court and are the not at issue in this appeal.

On March 13, 2017, the day before the hearing on Appellants' anti-SLAPP motion, Willick filed an untimely supplemental declaration in opposition to

Notice of Entry of Order denying Abrams' motion for OSC

<sup>16</sup> AA IX:1958-1961: *Ansell v. Ansell*, Eighth Judicial District Court, case no. D-15-521960-D, letter from Verizon Wireless; AA IX:1962-66: *Ansell*, Amended Subpoena Duces Tecum; AA IX:1967-1969: *Ansell*, Second Amended Notice of Taking Video Taped Deposition.

<sup>17</sup> AA I-V:53-946: Anti-SLAPP motion, including declarations of Sanson (at AA I:82-II:350) and Levy (at AA II:351-V:946)

<sup>18</sup> AA V:947-951

<sup>19</sup> AA V:952-983

<sup>20</sup> AA V:984-992

Appellants' anti-SLAPP motion.<sup>21</sup> The supplemental declaration was replete with legal argument and unsubstantiated insults against Appellants. Appellants immediately objected and moved to strike portions of the supplemental declaration.<sup>22</sup> That same day, Willick associated in as co-counsel with his fiancé, Josh Gilmore of the Bailey Kennedy firm.<sup>23</sup>

On March 14, 2017, the district court heard Appellant's anti-SLAPP motion.<sup>24</sup> At the onset of the hearing, the court indicated that it had not received Willick's supplemental declaration and would not therefore need to consider Appellants' corresponding objections and motion to strike.<sup>25</sup>

The anti-SLAPP motion required that Appellants show by a preponderance of the evidence that the statements at issue were made in good faith, in direct connection with an issue of public concern and was made in a place open to the public or in a public forum. NRS 41.637(4). If Appellants showed this, then to defeat the motion, the burden would have shifted to Respondents to "demonstrate with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on the claims." NRS 41.660(3)(b). At the close of the hearing, the Court denied the motion, ruling that Appellants did not carry their initial burden of proof. The court did not reach the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> AA VII:1504-1590: Affidavit of Marshal Willick

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> AA VII:1591-1598: Motion to Strike

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> AA VII:1599-1601: Notice of Association of Counsel

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> AA VII:1602-1603: Minute Order; AA1604-1670: Transcript of Proceedings; AA VIII:1682-1691: Notice of Entry of Order

issue of whether Respondents could make a prima facie of prevailing on their claims. <sup>26</sup>

Appellants made an immediate oral request to stay the proceedings pending this appeal,<sup>27</sup> and pursuant to written motion<sup>28</sup> heard on shortened time,<sup>29</sup> such stay was granted.

Notice of entry of order of the court's denial of Appellants' anti-SLAPP motion was served on March 31, 2017, <sup>30</sup> and Appellants timely filed their Notice of Appeal on April 3, 2017, <sup>31</sup> pursuant to NRS 41.670(4) which provides that "[i]f the court denies the special motion to dismiss filed pursuant to NRS 41.660, an interlocutory appeal lies to the Supreme Court."

Also on April 3, 2017, Respondents filed a First Amended Complaint ("FAC") purportedly pursuant to NRCP 15(a).<sup>32</sup> The FAC dropped their claims for emotional distress, harassment, RICO, concert of action and copyright

```
<sup>25</sup> AA VIII:1605, line 20-1606 line 15: Transcript of Proceedings
```

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> AA VIII:1682-1691: Notice of Entry of Order

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> AA VII:1602-1603: Minute Order, at 1:8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> AA VIII:1709-1720

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> AA IX:1921-1926

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> AA VIII:1707-1708: Notice of Appeal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> AA VIII:1692-1706: FAC

infringement, and dismissed all the other defendants in the case except for VIPI and Sanson.<sup>33</sup>

On April 20, 2017, pursuant to Appellant's written motion,<sup>34</sup> and over the Respondents' objections,<sup>35</sup> the district court stayed all further proceedings in this case, including discovery, pending this appeal.<sup>36</sup>

# II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

# A. THE CAMPAIGN TO STIFLE PROTECTED SPEECH

In or about October 2016, VIPI posted a court video online showing Abrams bullying Judge Elliott during a hearing in the *Saiter v. Saiter* divorce case, Eighth Judicial District Court case no. D-15-521372-D.<sup>37</sup> VIPI followed up that posting with blog articles criticizing Abrams' court practices and later, also criticizing Willick and his firm's work-related tactics.<sup>38</sup> What ensued has been a "torrential"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Appellants reserved the right to challenge in the district court the propriety of filing an amended complaint without leave of court under NRCP 15(a) after the adjudication of an anti-SLAPP motion. For purposes of this appeal, however, such filing should not stop this Court from issuing a decision. Appellants have a statutory right to have their anti-SLAPP motion reviewed. NRS 41.670(4). If they prevail, then the complaint will be dismissed with prejudice and Respondents will

not have had the opportunity to file a FAC.

34 AA VIII:1709-1720: Motion to Stay Proceedings; AA VIII:1721-1909: Levy Decl.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> AA IX:1927-1933: Opposition to Motion to Stay Proceedings

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> AA VII:1448: Notice of Order Staying Proceedings

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> AA I:62: Sanson Decl., ¶ 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> AA I:82-II:350: Sanson Decl. ¶¶ 3-5

downpour" of retaliatory court proceedings and other actions by Willick and Abrams, of which this case is a part:

# 1. The Saiter Divorce Case -- Failed Attempt to Incarcerate Sanson

Apparently embarrassed by the *Saiter* court video,<sup>39</sup> Abrams obtained an order in the *Saiter* case prohibiting the dissemination of *all* documents and information pertaining to the case by *anyone*.<sup>40</sup> When VIPI refused to abide by the order on constitutional grounds, Abrams unsuccessfully moved to have Sanson and her opposing counsel in the case incarcerated for *54 days* for contempt.<sup>41</sup> Pursuant to Sanson's special appearance and objections, Judge Elliott refused to issue an order of contempt and vacated her prior order as unconstitutional.<sup>42</sup> In so doing, the court also stated:

The Court further FINDS that *Plaintiff's Motions appear to be more about bolstering Abrams' civil action against Schneider and Sanson, especially since neither party has alleged specific harm.* Proper venue to hear this matter appears to be Abrams' civil action against Schneider and Sanson, or the State Bar of Nevada, if appropriate.

Emphasis added; AA1808, at 4-10. The Saiter case is now closed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> AA I:93: Abrams complains that posting the video is intended to put her "in a bad light."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> AA I:108-109: *Saiter*, Posted copy of Order Prohibiting the Dissemination of Case Material

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> AA I:31-52: *Saiter*, Motion for Order to Show Cause

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> AA VIII:1787-1809: *Saiter*, Notice of Order, at AA1805

# 

# 2. The Abrams Lawsuit – Recently Dismissed on Anti-SLAPP Grounds

On January 9, 2017, Abrams, represented by Willick, sued her opposing counsel in the *Saiter* case, Louis Schneider, VIPI and Sanson (the "Abrams Lawsuit"). She also sued each of VIPI's officers (including one who lives in Missouri), Sanson's wife and his wife's corporation. None of these entities had anything to do with the purported defamation alleged in the Abrams Lawsuit. The Abrams Lawsuit alleged the same causes of action as Willick's 2012 action against the other veterans groups—defamation, business disparagement, false light, emotional distress, harassment, RICO violations, copyright violations, concert of action, and conspiracy.

The district court recently dismissed the Abrams Lawsuit pursuant to Nevada's anti-SLAPP laws, NRS 41.650 et. seq. and will award attorney's fees and costs.<sup>47</sup>

# 3. <u>Intimidation Tactics</u>

Willick posted the complaint in the Abrams Lawsuit on numerous websites, and then published a purported letter to Sanson (which in fact was never sent to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> AA V:1000-1040: *Abrams*, Amended Complaint

 $<sup>^{45}</sup>$  AA I:83:23-84:2, AA I:84:23-27: Sanson Decl. at  $\P\P$  6, 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> AA V:1042-1064: *Willick v. Beery, et.al*, Eighth Judicial District Court, case no.A-126611766-C, Second Amended Complaint

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> AA IX:1955-1957: *Abrams*, Minute Order; AA IX:1970-1993: Notice of Entry

<sup>53</sup> *Id*.

(not a common name).<sup>55</sup> The texts urged VIPI to take down a court video showing Judge Rena Hughes bullying a 12-year-old unrepresented child in court.<sup>56</sup>

On January 29, 2017, Sanson for the first time had the SIM card from his Samsung cell phone stolen.<sup>57</sup> Samsung, however, reportedly does not store personal information on SIM cards, so it is believed that the perpetrator did not obtain confidential information from the stolen card. Sanson completed a police report on the incident.<sup>58</sup>

It is as yet unconfirmed whether these events are related to Willick and Abrams, however, the timing, the name of Abrams' daughter, and Willick's unrelenting *continuing* quest to obtain Sanson's cellphone data (see subsection 6 below) suggest that they are.

# 4. "Take Down" Notices

Abrams and Willick also sent "take down" notices to VIPI's online vendors, including to YouTube, Facebook, Vimeo and Constant Contact.<sup>59</sup> Willick and Abrams falsely claimed that VIPI was engaging in copyright violations under the Digital Millennium Copyright Act ("DMCA") and/or were somehow violating their privacy rights by posting articles about their court proceedings and public

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> AA I:200: screenshot from Willick Law Group website

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