IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

* * * * *

VETERANS IN POLITICS INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND STEVE W. SANSON,

Appellant,

VS.

MARSHAL S. WILLICK AND WILLICK LAW GROUP,

Respondent.

S.C. NO. Feb 07 2018 04:36 p.m. D.C. NO: Elizabeth Al-Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

JENNIFER V. ABRAMS, ESQ. Attorney for Respondent Nevada Bar No. 7575 THE ABRAMS AND MAYO LAW FIRM 6252 South Rainbow Blvd., Ste. 100 Las Vegas, Nevada 89118 (702) 222-4021 email: JVAGroup@theabramslawfirm.com

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

Sanson's statement that Willick lost the *Holyoak* appeal was just false. The evidence established that Willick's client *prevailed* on appeal.¹⁵⁷

See, e.g., Milkovich v. Lorain Journal Co., 497 U.S. 1, 110 S. Ct. 2695 (1990); Shadle v. NEXTSTAR Broad. Grp., Inc., 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 118379 (D.C. PA, Aug. 31, 2016); Gavrilovic v. World Wide Language Res., Inc., 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 32134 (D.C. Maine, Dec. 8, 2005).

¹⁵⁷ II AA 327-35.

Because the district court's finding that Sanson did not show that his statements were truthful or were made without knowledge of their falsehood was supported by substantial evidence, this Court should affirm the March 30, 2017, Order.

2. Sanson's Defenses Are Irrelevant for Purposes of NRS 41.637(4)

Sanson contends (at 33-37) that he met his initial burden to prove that all of the statements at issue were truthful or were made without knowledge of their falsehood, pursuant to NRS 41.637(4), because: (i) several statements allegedly involve non-actionable opinion;¹⁵⁸ (ii) he used hyperlinks "to disclose underlying source documents"; (iii) some statements were "substantially true"; and (iv) one statement was ambiguous and subsequently clarified. Each argument fails.¹⁵⁹

¹⁵⁸ Sanson should not be heard to argue on appeal that his statements were matters of opinion and not fact. When challenged by a member of VIPI, Sanson insisted that his statements were "true." VII AA 1427.

¹⁵⁹ Sanson further argues (at 27) that the district court "lumped together all of [Sanson's] five separate statements." Not true. The district court's Order held: "[U]pon review of the defamatory statements at issue in the Complaint, the Court finds that the VIPI [Parties] have not established, by a preponderance of the evidence, that each was truthful or was made without knowledge of its falsehood." VIII AA 1690 (emphasis added).

Assessing whether a statement falls within NRS 41.637(4) does not require determining whether the statement is an assertion of fact or opinion. Sanson conflates the first and second prongs of the anti-SLAPP analysis by failing to address the truth component of his statements and instead arguing why Willick's defamation and related claims allegedly lack merit.

This Court has *not* exempted a defendant from meeting its initial burden under NRS 41.660(3)(a) by instead attacking a plaintiff's claim on the merits. A defendant who prefers to attack a claim on the merits is able to do so pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5); however, if the defendant wishes to invoke the anti-SLAPP statute, the defendant has to initially prove that the statement in question was truthful or was made without knowledge of its falsehood. Any other result would improperly blur the distinction between a motion to dismiss and a special motion to dismiss.¹⁶¹

¹⁶⁰ This Court should thus reject Sanson's notion (at 27-28) that the district court had some obligation to categorize each of the statements in question when deciding Sanson's anti-SLAPP motion.

¹⁶¹ Lefebvre v. Lefebvre, 131 Cal. Rptr. 3d 171, 175 (Cal. Ct. App. 2011) ("The determination whether a privilege established by statute immunizes [the defendant] from civil liability . . . is a wholly separate issue from the determination whether her conduct in the first instance was an act in furtherance of her constitutional rights.") (emphasis removed from original); see also id. at 177 ("[Defendant] may have a valid privileged-based defense which she may present in another procedural context, but such a defense may not be presented by way of an anti-SLAPP motion.") (emphasis

Sanson's argument (at 37-39) that his false statements fall within NRS 41.637(4) because his posts contained "hyperlinks" to source materials is specious given that his statements are facially inconsistent with the source materials (thus proving knowledge of falsity). 162

Regardless, whether Sanson has a defense to the defamation claims is irrelevant for purposes of determining whether Sanson was sued for making truthful statements that fall within the purview of NRS 41.637(4) because *the statute does not, on its face, protect false statements that are accompanied by hyperlinks purportedly allowing the reader to discover the truth*.¹⁶³ Sanson did not provide any legal support justifying his request for this Court to create a judicial exception to the truth component underlying NRS 41.637.¹⁶⁴

added).

¹⁶² See VIII AA 1610-12.

¹⁶³ Cf. Lefebvre, 131 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 175, 177.

Opening Brief (32-33) involves an anti-SLAPP motion. With regard to *Adelson v. Harris*, 973 F. Supp. 2d 467 (S.D.N.Y. 2013), the portion of the decision addressing truth is inapplicable because the plaintiffs had neither alleged nor attempted to prove "knowledge of falsity." *See id.* at 502-03.

Sanson's argument (at 39-41) that his statements were "substantially true" is contrary to the evidence. Pursuant to NRS 41.660(3)(a), Sanson had to prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, *inter alia*, that: Mr. Crane was continuing to practice law without a license; that Willick misled this Court in the *Holyoak* appeal; and that Willick did not prevail in the *Holyoak* appeal. He failed to do so, as correctly determined by the district court; at a minimum, it can hardly be said that the district court abused its discretion by finding that none of the statements in question was true or substantially true.

Finally, Sanson's argument that his false assertion concerning Willick's alleged conviction falls within NRS 41.637(4) is self-defeating because he admits (at 41-42) that the statement was factually incorrect. There is no exception under NRS 41.637(4) for statements that are false, but then "clarified." ¹⁶⁵

Because Sanson failed to satisfy his initial burden, this Court should affirm the March 30, 2017, Order.

During the March 14, 2017 hearing, Judge Thompson noted that the "clarification" did not obviate the fact that the initial defamatory post would remain on the internet to Willick's detriment. VIII AA 1638.

C. Willick is Neither a "Public Figure" nor a "Limited Purpose Public Figure"

Sanson's anti-SLAPP motion was premised, in part, on the wondrous notion (at 48) that anything and *everything* Willick does is a matter of "public interest" because he is an attorney. But being an attorney does not—without more—make someone a public figure or a limited purpose public figure.

This Court has previously held that professional achievements such as having an "accomplished career" or a "national reputation" for skill and caring; going to a great school; having a prestigious fellowship; publishing numerous articles and abstracts; contributing to chapters in books and textbooks; belonging to specialized professional groups; and being "the subject of newspaper articles" does not make someone a "limited-purpose public figure" for purposes of defamation law.¹⁶⁷

Notwithstanding, Sanson argues (at 19 & 56) that Willick's having testified at past legislative sessions, authored family law articles, marketing, public appearances,

^{166 &}quot;What [lawyers] do is a matter of public interest"

¹⁶⁷ *Bongiovi*, 122 Nev. at 442-46, 138 P.3d at 568-74; *see also Doe v. Brown*, No. 62752, 2015 WL 3489404, at *2-*3 (Nev. May 29, 2015) (unpublished disp.). Although NRAP 36(c)(3) provides that a party may only cite, on appeal, unpublished dispositions issued by this Court on or after January 1, 2016, the district court relied in part on *Doe* in denying Sanson's anti-SLAPP motion. VIII AA 1690.

and work as an expert witness qualify him as a "limited purpose public figure." Sanson fails to acknowledge, let alone attempt to distinguish, this Court's holding in *Bongiovi*, and he confuses legal expertise with fame and notoriety; being a private practicing attorney representing clients in divorce cases does not make an attorney any kind of "public figure" as the district court correctly found. 168

Absent having achieved widespread fame and notoriety, an attorney must "voluntarily inject[] himself or [be] thrust into a particular public controversy or public concern" in order to become "a public figure for a limited range of issues." None of the communications underlying the claims against Sanson arose from an existing public controversy in which Willick had "injected himself." As such, Willick does not

¹⁶⁸ VIII AA 1690.

Pegasus, 118 Nev. at 720, 57 P.3d at 91. A few states have held that professionals whose services are of "vital importance" to the public are limited purpose public figures even if they have not inserted themselves into a public debate, but this Court has rejected that proposition. *See Bongiovi*, 122 Nev. at 573, 138 P.3d at 446.

distinguishable because they involve attorneys who voluntarily injected themselves into existing public controversies. *See Young v. The Morning Journal*, 717 N.E.2d 356, 359 (Ohio Ct. App. 1998) (a government attorney who had run a high-profile narcotics investigative unit for 15 years was a public figure for defamation purposes for matters related to a pending criminal case); *Schwartz v. Worrall Publications, Inc.*, 610 A.2d 425, 427 (N.J. App. Div. 1992) (an attorney who has long been involved with this State's education system was a public figure for defamation purposes for current matters related to the school board).

constitute a limited purpose public figure for purposes of his defamation and related claims.

Even if Willick *could* be considered a limited purpose public figure, the end result is the same. "Malice" is a term with two meanings, and the record readily establishes both of them.

In common parlance, "malice" means "active ill will," "desire to harm, or "evil intent." In defamation law, "malice" is sometimes referenced as acting with knowledge of the falsity of a statement or with reckless disregard for its truth. This Court has noted that "express malice" is "conduct which is intended to injure a person" while "implied malice" is "despicable conduct which is engaged in with a conscious disregard of the rights . . . of others."

Although beyond the scope of this appeal (from an order finding that Sanson failed to satisfy the first prong of the anti-SLAPP analysis), Sanson's publication of a bounty for any "dirt" that could be found on Willick, his months of relentless insults

¹⁷¹ Webster's New World Dictionary (1984 ed.) at 365.

¹⁷² Rowland v. Lepire, 99 Nev. 308, 313, 662 P.2d 1332, 1335 (1983).

¹⁷³ *Bongiovi*, 122 Nev. at 582, 138 P.3d at 451.

smeared across the internet, and his open hostility and hatred toward Willick noted in open court by judicial officers proves that Sanson acted with actual malice.

Because the district court's finding that Sanson failed to show that Willick is either a public figure or a limited purpose public figure is supported by substantial evidence, this Court should affirm the March 30, 2017, Order.

D. If this Court Nevertheless Reverses the Finding that Sanson Failed to Meet His Initial Burden, it Should Remand for a Hearing on Whether Willick Met His Burden

A party making a special motion to dismiss under Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute bears the initial burden of production and persuasion.¹⁷⁴ The defendant must establish, "by a preponderance of the evidence, that [each] claim is based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern."¹⁷⁵

If, but *only* if, the defendant meets its initial burden, the burden shifts to the plaintiff to put forth "prima facie evidence" of a probability of prevailing on each

¹⁷⁴ John v. Douglas Cty. Sch. Dist., 125 Nev. 746, 754, 219 P.3d 1276, 1282 (2009), superseded by statute on other grounds.

¹⁷⁵ NRS 41.660(3)(a).

claim.¹⁷⁶ If the defendant fails to meet its initial burden, the burden never shifts to the plaintiff; the anti-SLAPP motion is denied without further review.¹⁷⁷ That was the ruling here.

Sanson acknowledges (at 5) that the district court "did not reach the issue of whether [Willick] could make a prima facie [showing] of prevailing on [his] claims." Notwithstanding, Sanson improperly asks this Court (at 51-60), without citation to authority, to decide in the first instance, whether Willick made a prima facie showing of prevailing on his claims.

¹⁷⁶ NRS 41.660(3)(b).

App. 2014); Commonwealth Energy Corp. v. Investor Data Exchange, Inc., 1 Cal. Rptr. 3d 390, 393 (Cal. Ct. App. 2003) ("if the moving defendant cannot meet the threshold showing, then the fact that he or she might be able to otherwise prevail on the merits under the 'probability' step is irrelevant.") (emphasis added); see also Collins v. Laborers Int'l Union of N. Am. Local No. 872, No. 2:11-cv-00524-LDG-LRL, 2011 WL 12710632, at *1-*2 (D. Nev. July 21, 2011) (denying a special motion to dismiss where the moving party failed to make "a threshold showing that Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute applies").

¹⁷⁸ *See also* VIII AA 1690.

This Court is not a fact-finding tribunal¹⁷⁹ and should not try to determine, in the first instance, whether Willick's claims have "minimal merit."¹⁸⁰ As aptly stated by the California Court of Appeal:

the more prudent course is to remand the matter to the trial court to determine in the first instance whether Hunter demonstrated a reasonable probability of prevailing on the merits of his causes of action.¹⁸¹

The same reasoning would apply here; assuming arguendo that Sanson met his initial burden (he did not), the *district* court would then be called upon to decide, in the first instance, whether Willick met his burden.¹⁸² It would be impractical for this Court

¹⁷⁹ See, e.g., Ryan's Express v. Amador Stage Lines, 128 Nev. ___, ___, 279 P.3d 166, 172-73 (2012); Zugel v. Miller, 99 Nev. 100, 101, 659 P.2d 296, 297 (1983) ("This court is not a fact-finding tribunal; that function is best performed by the district court.").

¹⁸⁰ See, e.g., Park v. Bd. of Trustees of Cal. State Univ., 393 P.3d 905, 907 (Cal. 2017). This Court consults California case law for guidance in determining whether a plaintiff "demonstrated with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim." NRS 41.665(2).

¹⁸¹ *Hunter v. CBS Broad., Inc.*, 165 Cal. Rptr. 3d 123, 136 (Cal. Ct. App. 2013) (emphasis added); *see also Navellier v. Sletten*, 52 P.3d 703, 713 (Cal. 2002).

A claim is not subject to dismissal merely because it is based on a communication that falls within the purview of the anti-SLAPP statute. *See*, *e.g.*, *Navellier*, 52 P.3d at 711-12 ("[T]he statute poses no obstacle to suits that possess minimal merit").

to undertake the second prong of the anti-SLAPP analysis where the district court has not yet done so.¹⁸³

If this Court did attempt that task, it would have to address an issue raised for the first time on appeal by Sanson–whether allegations in Willick's First Amended Complaint contradict allegations in their initial Complaint. This Court would have to assess the allegations in Willick's First Amended Complaint, which were not reviewed by the district court when it denied Sanson's anti-SLAPP motion.

Sanson claims (at 51) that the evidence is allegedly insufficient to support the claims at issue in the First Amended Complaint, but Willick did not file his First Amended Complaint until *after* the district court entered its March 30, 2017, Order. It is for the district court, not this Court, to address them in the first instance.

E. Willick Met His Burden Pursuant to NRS 41.660(3)(b)

¹⁸³ VII AA 1504-90. The district court did not consider the Supplemental Affidavit filed by Willick or the evidentiary objections brought by Sanson as noted in his Opening Brief (at 25). VIII AA 1688.

¹⁸⁴ See, e.g., Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981) ("A point not urged in the trial court, unless it goes to the jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal.").

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